Quantitative genetics of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) wood quality traits in Sweden

Haleh Hayatgheibi

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2018 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2018:31

Cover: lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) plantation in northern Sweden (Photo: Harry Wu)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-202-6 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-203-3 © 2018 Haleh Hayatgheibi, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia, Umeå 2018

Quantitative genetics of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) wood quality traits in Sweden

Abstract

Stem bending, breakage, and general instability of lodgepole pine has been a major problem in northern Sweden due to low stem stiffness. The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate the potential incorporation of wood quality traits into lodgepole pine advanced breeding programs. To achieve this, 823 increment cores were sampled from 207 half-sib families at two progeny trials of lodgepole pine and genetic variations in wood density, microfibril angle (MFA), modulus of elasticity (clearwood stiffness; MOE_s), radial fibre width (RFW), tangential fibre width (TFW), fibre wall thickness (FWT), and fibre coarseness (FC) were characterised.

To quantify genotype by environment interactions ($G \times E$) for growth and stiffness and to evaluate performance of provenances, diameter at breast height (DBH) and dynamic stiffness of standing trees (MOE_{tof}) were studied, using six 33-36 year-old lodgepole progeny trials within three different breeding zones in northern Sweden. To evaluate genetic gains in selection for an early MFA transition from juvenile to mature wood, six different regression functions were fitted to the MFA profile of each tree to delineate the age variation in MFA transition.

Narrow-sense heritability estimates (h^2) ranged from 0.10 to 0.32 for DBH and from 0.18 to 0.76 for wood quality traits. Unfavourable genetic correlations between growth and stiffness were observed, implying that selection for a 1% increase in DBH alone, would confer 5.5% and 2.3% decreases in lodgepole pine MOE_s and MOE_{tof}, respectively.

Results of the studies in this thesis indicate that simultaneous improvement of DBH and stiffness is achievable when an optimal selection index combining both traits is implemented. Additionally, it is possible to select for an earlier MFA transition from juvenile to mature wood, and thus, decreasing the proportion of the log containing juvenile wood in lodgepole pine selective breeding programs. Finally, $G \times E$ was only significant for stiffness within the northern most breeding zone. To achieve the highest stiffness for lodgepole pine, provenances of Yukon origin should be planted at lower latitudes and those of British Columbia (BC) origin should be planted at lower elevations within the tested breeding zones.

Keywords: wood quality traits, genetic parameters, index selection, early selection efficiency, lodgepole pine, $G \times E$ interaction, microfibril angle (MFA), transition wood, SilviScan

Author's address: Haleh Hayatgheibi, SLU, Department of Forest Genetics and Plant physiology, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden

Dedication

To my mom, Homa, and the Swedish Forestry Industry

The best preparation for tomorrow is doing your best today. H. Jackson Brown Jr.

Contents

List	of publications	8						
1	Introduction	10						
1.1	Lodgepole pine in its native range							
1.2	Introduction of lodgepole pine into Sweden							
1.3	Lodgepole pine breeding in Sweden	13						
	1.3.1 Long term breeding program	14						
1.4	Genetics of wood quality traits	16						
	1.4.1 Solid-wood traits	16						
	1.4.2 Pulp and paper-related traits	18						
	1.4.3 Juvenile and mature wood characteristics	18						
2	Objectives	20						
3	Materials and Methods	21						
3.1	Field trials	21						
3.2	Studied traits and non-destructive measurements	23						
	3.2.1 SilviScan measurements	23						
	3.2.2 Acoustic velocity measurement	23						
3.3	Statistical analysis	25						
	3.3.1 General model	25						
	3.3.2 Index selection	25						
	3.3.3 Model fit and determination of transition age	26						
4	Results and Discussion	28						
4.1	Traits summary	28						
4.2	Inheritance of growth and wood quality traits	31						
4.3	Correlations among growth, solid-wood and fibre traits							
4.4	Age-age correlations and efficiency of early age selection for growth	and						
4 5	wood quality traits	33						
4.5	Selection scenarios incorporating wood quality traits	34						
4.0	Genotype by environment interactions and provenance performances	30						
4./	WIFA transition from juvenile to mature wood	39						

	4.7.1 MFA radial variation4.7.2 Heritability estimates and genetic gains	39 40		
5	Conclusions and Future perspectives	42		
Refer	ences	44		
Popul	52			
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning				
Ackno	owledgements	54		

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Haleh Hayatgheibi, Anders Fries, Johan Kroon, and Harry X. Wu* (2017). Genetic analysis of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) solid-wood quality traits. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 47, pp. 1303-1313
- II Haleh Hayatgheibi, Anders Fries, Johan Kroon, and Harry X. Wu*. Genetic analysis of fibre-dimension traits and combined selection for simultaneous improvement of growth and stiffness in lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) (submitted to *Annals of Forest Science*)
- III Haleh Hayatgheibi, Nils Forsberg, Sven-Olof Lundqvist, Tommy Mörling, Ewa J. Mellerowicz, Bo Karlsson, Harry X. Wu, M Rosario García-Gil1*. Genetic control of transition from juvenile to mature wood with respect to microfibril angle (MFA) in Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) (submitted to *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*)
- IV Haleh Hayatgheibi, Anders Fries, Johan Kroon, and Harry X. Wu*. Estimation of genetic parameters, provenance performances, and genotype by environment interactions for growth and stiffness in lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) (submitted to *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*)

Paper I is reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

* Corresponding author.

The contribution of Haleh Hayatgheibi to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I. Involved in the experimental design and the field sampling, preparation of all increment cores for SilviScan analysis, data analysis and interpretation, writing the manuscript.
- II. Involved in the conceiving, designing and the field sampling, preparation of all increment cores for SilviScan analysis, data analysis and interpretation, writing the manuscript.
- III. Involved in the experimental design of lodgepole pine study, preparation of lodgepole pine increment cores, performing genetic analysis, interpretation of the results, writing the manuscript
- IV. Involved in conceiving, design and field sampling of the study, data analysis and interpretation, writing the manuscript.

1 Introduction

1.1 Lodgepole pine in its native range

Lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* Douglas ex Louden) is native to North America, where it grows between latitudes 31° N in Baja California and 64° N in Yukon in Canada, and from sea level to 3900 m of elevation (Koch, 1996; Wheeler & Critchfield, 1985; Critchfield & Little, 1966) (Figure 1).

Lodgepole pine includes three main sub-species (coastal form var. *contorta*, southern inland form var. *murrayana*, and northern inland form var. *latifolia*) (Elfving *et al.*, 2001; Critchfield, 1957)). It covers more than five million hectares of forest land in the United States and 20 million hectares in Canada (Engelmark *et al.*, 2001; Wellner, 1975; McDougal, 1973).

In its natural habitat, lodgepole pine is the major commercial species and its wood and fibre properties are suited for production of high-quality lumber and pulpwood products (Wang & Stewart, 2012; Wu & Ying, 2004). Additionally, it is the most well-known species for its adaptation to frequent forest fires through development of closed, or serotinous cones (Elfving *et al.*, 2001; Engelmark *et al.*, 2001). The cones remain sealed in the environment until they are exposed to high temperatures required for their opening. This enables dense lodgepole pine stands to grow rapidly in the aftermath of a fire (Backlund, 2013; Despain, 2001; Elfving *et al.*, 2001). Local adaptation of lodgepole pine has been widely studied including norm of reaction of provenances (Wu & Ying, 2004), potential climate adaptation (Wang *et al.*, 2006; Rehfeldt *et al.*, 1999), and seed planning zones (Ying & Yanchuk, 2006). Due to its pioneer characteristics along with a wide range of adaptation (Pfister & Daubenmire, 1973), lodgepole pine has been planted as an exotic species in many countries such as New Zealand (Ledgard, 2001) and Fennoscandia (Elfving *et al.*, 2001).



Figure 1. Map of lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta) native distribution area (Taysor, 2013)

1.2 Introduction of lodgepole pine into Sweden

Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L. Karst.) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) are the two most important native tree species for commercial wood production in Sweden. However, during the mid-1960s, a forecast was made that the over-exploitation of old-growth natural forests and the gap in the age-class distribution of Swedish forest stands will lead to a shortage of harvestable timber in the beginning of the next century. This has justified the introduction of exotic tree species as one option to eliminate the anticipated deficit. Later, the choice of lodgepole pine (*P. contorta* var. *latifolia* Engelm.) was supported by the rapid growth and high yield, coupled with desirable wood characteristics and a good survival had been obtained by lodgepole pine in Swedish experimental plantations, between 1910 and 1930 (Elfving *et al.*, 2001; Nellbeck, 1981; Hagner, 1971).

Large-scale introduction of lodgepole pine, primarily as a source of pulpwood, was initiated by extensive series of seed collection and broad research to find the most suitable provenances for Swedish climatic conditions. Therefore, several provenance trials were established from 1962 to 1979 in order to build the basis for seed transfer schemes (Hagner, 1993; Hagner, 1971). Early observations revealed that provenances obtained from interior of British Columbia (BC) and Yukon performed best (Rosvall *et al.*, 1998; Lindgren *et al.*, 1993). It was also discovered that in contrast to the native Scots pine, lodgepole pine populations perform better with a 2-5° northward transfer compared to its latitudinal origin in Canada (Hagner & Fahlroth, 1974).

Furthermore, its superiority in terms of growth, yield, and survival to Scots pine was revealed in the first field studies (Elfving *et al.*, 2001; Elfving & Norgren, 1993; Martinsson, 1983; Hägglund *et al.*, 1979). It has been evidenced that lodgepole pine produces about 36% more stem volume than Scots pine grown under similar conditions in northern Sweden (Elfving *et al.*, 2001). This is driven by several factors, including an earlier start of growth in spring and a lower required heat sum for the initiation of shoot elongation. Additionally, rotation length for lodgepole pine is 10 to 15 years shorter than that for Scots pine (Backlund, 2013; Elfving *et al.*, 2001).

1.3 Lodgepole pine breeding in Sweden

Base material for breeding was collected during the 1970s from the interior of the var. *latifolia* distribution area, located in western Canada, where lodgepole pine was considered to be well-adapted to Swedish conditions. The first plus-tree selections were made from 1970 to 1974 by two forest companies, whereby seed and scions were collected from about 200 plus-trees in natural stands of western Canada. The first clonal and seedling seed orchards covering about 31 hectares were established using these plus trees (Rosvall, 1980). Genetics of these plus-trees have been broadly studied (Fries, 1987).

Later, in order to secure domestic seed sources of lodgepole pine for future demands and long-term breeding purposes, an additional cooperative seed-collection program was launched. Thus, six preliminary breeding zones (utilization zones) in northern Sweden were proposed based on latitude and elevation, mirroring similar climate regions and seed transfer zones (collection zone) in western Canada. About 1112 plus-trees were selected from 100 natural stands (about 12 mother trees from the same stand) distributed in the interior of Yukon, BC, and at some extent in Alberta, and open-pollinated seeds were collected from these selections. Once the collection of seed samples was accomplished, 18 progeny trials (three trials per each breeding zone) from 1979 to 1981, and six seedling seed orchards (per each breeding zone) covering about 100 hectares were established from 1979 to 1987. Based on performance evaluation of these progeny trials at age 10-12 years (Ericsson, 1994), an early genetic thinning for five of these seedling seed orchards was carried out in 1992 (Ericsson & Danell, 1995).

1.3.1 Long term breeding program

Currently, there are a total of 3232 plus-trees available to serve as a founder population for long-term lodgepole pine breeding and conservation. Depending on their origin, these plus trees are divided into three groups (Rosvall *et al.*, 2011) as follows:

- 1. Old Canadian tested plus-trees (128 trees) which were firstly selected in Canada and then grafted in Sweden
- 2. Young Swedish untested plus-trees (193 trees) selected in commercial Swedish plantations
- 3. Young Swedish F1 plus-trees (2911 trees) selected from the best open pollinated families in Swedish progeny tests, which were implemented using plus-trees selected in Canada

The general breeding strategy for lodgepole pine is similar to those of Norway spruce and Scots pine. However, for lodgepole pine, the advanced-generation breeding materials will be divided into 11 populations, each made up of 50 unrelated founder trees, distributed over target areas delineated based on photoperiod (latitude) and temperature gradients (growing season) (Figure 2). The selected breeding parents will be crossed by double pair-mating to form new recruitment populations (Rosvall *et al.*, 2011; Danell *et al.*, 1993).

To date, the breeding program for lodgepole pine in Sweden has mainly focused on improving growth, vitality, and adaptive traits. Several studies estimated genetic parameters for growth, survival, and form traits in Swedish lodgepole pine progeny trials (Ericsson & Danell, 1995; Ericsson, 1994; Fries & Lindgren, 1986). However, wood quality, stem breakage, and general instability of lodgepole pine is a major problem in northern Sweden and needs to be improved. Wood quality traits play a significant role in the health of plantations and are key determinants of economic value of end-use products. Therefore, to enhance the economic value of Swedish lodgepole pine breeding and deployment populations, wood quality traits should be incorporated into the advanced breeding programs. To do so, a rapid, non-destructive, and cost-effective method to measure a large number of sample trees as well as knowledge of quantitative genetic parameters in the large breeding populations are required.

For lodgepole pine, which is an introduced species, it is of vital importance that seed sources are well adapted to their new environmental condition. It is well recognized that the phenotypic response of genotypes might vary when grown under different climatic and edaphic conditions due to genotype by environment interaction $(G \times E)$ (Bridgwater & Stonecypher, 1978). Existence of $G \times E$, due to the change in

the ranking of genotypes, complicates the design of breeding and deployment strategies. Because tree breeders must decide whether to select for stability of performance, whereby the rate of population improvement is slow, or to select genotypes for specific environments to maximize genetic gain in that site, but with greater program costs (Namkoong *et al.*, 2012). Thus, to implement an effective breeding strategy for lodgepole pine, in the studies this thesis is based upon, genetic parameters of growth, wood quality traits, genetic correlations between traits, and levels of $G \times E$ were evaluated.



Figure 2. Planned breeding zones for lodgepole pine in Sweden (Rosvall et al., 2011)

1.4 Genetics of wood quality traits

Wood quality traits have become an important focus in advanced tree breeding programs due to their impact on quality of end-use products (Zobel & Jett, 1995; Zobel & Van Buijtenen, 1989). Wood properties exhibit continuous variation, and therefore, are considered as quantitative traits influenced by multiple genetic and environmental factors (Thamarus *et al.*, 2004; Zobel & Jett, 1995). Considerable genetic variation and high heritabilities were reported for most important wood quality traits, including solid-wood and pulp and paper-related traits, in various conifers (Zobel & Jett, 1995). It has also been observed that age by age genetic correlations are very high for wood quality traits, implying early selection for wood quality traits is highly efficient if heritability estimates at early ages are comparable or higher than later ages (Hong *et al.*, 2015; Chen *et al.*, 2014; Lenz *et al.*, 2011; Wu *et al.*, 2007).

1.4.1 Solid-wood traits

Wood density and microfibril angle (MFA) are key indicators of wood quality due to their impact on wood strength, dimensional stability of structural lumber, and pulp quality. Wood stiffness (generally expressed as modulus of elasticity: MOE) and longitudinal shrinkage, are largely dependent on MFA (Cave & Walker, 1994; Zobel & Van Buijtenen, 1989; Cave, 1968). MFA is the angle at which the cellulose microfibrils in the secondary cell wall deviate from the long axis of the cell (Donaldson, 2008; Walker & Butterfield, 1996) (Figure 3).

Several studies in conifers have shown that very large angles of MFA (about 45°) are common in the first 5 to 10 growth rings near the pith (Donaldson, 2008) and MFA values decline gradually until they stabilize at values of $10-15^{\circ}$ towards the bark (Moore *et al.*, 2014). Higher MFA and lower stiffness in rings near the pith have been hypothesized to ensure flexibility of young stems to bend through large angles and protect them from wind damage and snow loading (Lichtenegger *et al.*, 1999; Booker & Sell, 1998).

Genetics of wood quality traits have been extensively studied in recent years (Wu *et al.*, 2008). Narrow-sense heritability estimates are generally greater for wood quality traits than for growth traits, whereby heritability estimates of wood density is reportedly greater than those of MFA and MOE (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Hong *et al.*, 2014; Lenz *et al.*, 2010; Baltunis *et al.*, 2007). Estimated genetic correlations of wood density and stiffness with growth traits were highly unfavorable in radiata pine (*P. radiata* Don) (Wu *et al.*, 2008; Baltunis *et al.*, 2007), Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2014), Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014), and white spruce [*P. glauca* (Moench) Voss] (Lenz *et al.*, 2011).

Due to such unfavorable genetic correlation, simultaneous improvement of growth and wood quality traits remains as a constraint in tree breeding programs (Wu & Sanchez, 2011). As such, several methods including designing effective breeding strategies (Hallingbäck *et al.*, 2014; Yanchuk & Sanchez, 2011), using restricted index selection (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Gapare *et al.*, 2009), and applying index selection with optimal economic weights (Ivković *et al.*, 2010; Ivković *et al.*, 2006), have been proposed.



Figure 3. Schematics of microfibril angle (MFA) in juvenile wood and mature wood

1.4.2 Pulp and paper-related traits

Along with wood density, different characteristics of wood fibres, such as fibre length, fibre coarseness (FC), and fibre wall thickness (FWT) are key determinants of pulp and paper quality (Kibblewhite, 1999; Paavilainen, 1993). FC, a commonly used assessment in pulping, defined as fiber mass per fiber length, is strongly related to wall thickness, fiber width and cell wall density (Carrillo *et al.*, 2015; Mansfield & Weineisen, 2007*b*). Thin-walled fibres with low coarseness (e.g., in juvenile and earlywood) result in superior sheet formation and surface properties, while coarse fibers (e.g., in latewood) produce strong paper products (Lenz *et al.*, 2011). Considerable genetic variations and strong inheritances have been reported for tracheid characteristics in conifers (Ivković *et al.*, 2006; Zobel & Jett, 1995).

It has also been noted that density has a negative and unfavorable genetic correlation with radial fiber width (RFW) (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Lenz *et al.*, 2010; Ivković *et al.*, 2006; Hannrup *et al.*, 2000), while it has a strong positive correlation with FWT and FC (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Hong *et al.*, 2014; Lenz *et al.*, 2010). This implies that breeding for density, which enhances the pulp yield, may produce tracheids with smaller diameters and thicker walls, and thus, will lead in inferior paper-sheet formation and surface properties (Lenz *et al.*, 2010).

1.4.3 Juvenile and mature wood characteristics

Differences between juvenile and mature wood are the major sources of variation in wood quality, both among and within trees (Zobel & Sprague, 1998). Such differences occur in various wood characteristics, including specific gravity, mechanical properties (Bendtsen & Senft, 1984), cell length (Yang *et al.*, 1986; Shiokura, 1982), and pulp yields (Zobel & Sprague, 1998). Juvenile wood is mostly undesirable due to its short cells, low density, low strength, high content of compression wood, large MFA, low crystallinity, and high variability compared to mature wood (Barnett & Jeronimidis, 2009; Mellerowicz *et al.*, 2001; Zobel & Van Buijtenen, 1989).

The proportion of juvenile wood in trees is influenced by both genetic and environmental factors and thus is amenable to selection and breeding (Zobel & Sprague, 1998). In addition to selecting genotypes with improved juvenile wood properties, it is also possible to breed for an earlier transition from juvenile to mature wood (Koubaa *et al.*, 2007; Gapare *et al.*, 2006; Loo *et al.*, 1985). Transition from juvenile to mature wood usually occurs over two to five growth rings, depending on the wood property (Alteyrac *et al.*, 2006). However, it is difficult to estimate this

boundary with adequate reliability as there is usually no clear demarcation line between juvenile wood and mature wood in a tree stem (Mutz *et al.*, 2004; Zobel & Sprague, 1998).

The distinction between juvenile wood and mature wood has mostly been determined by analyzing trends of radial variation (from pith to bark) for different wood properties such as density (Mansfield *et al.*, 2007*a*; Alteyrac *et al.*, 2006), MOE (Wang & Stewart, 2013), fibre length, and MFA (Wang & Stewart, 2012; Mansfield *et al.*, 2009; Bhat *et al.*, 2001). This method is called threshold or graphic method whereby plots of each wood property are visually evaluated to locate a ring number or age when the property reaches the threshold value for mature wood (Clark *et al.*, 2006). An alternative approach is to use mathematical methods such as segmented regression (Abdel-Gadir & Krahmer, 1993; Szymanski & Tauer, 1991) or segmented non-linear models (Alteyrac *et al.*, 2006; Mutz *et al.*, 2004).

In study III, MFA was used to evaluate genetic control of transition from juvenile to mature wood in lodgepole pine and Norway spruce.

2 Objectives

The overall objectives of the studies this thesis is based upon, were to estimate genetic parameters for growth and wood quality traits of lodgepole pine in Sweden and to evaluate selective breeding strategies that incorporate solid-wood and fibre related traits into lodgepole pine advanced breeding programs. The following specific questions were addressed:

- 1) How large is the genetic variation for solid-wood (I), and pulp and paper related traits (II) and what are their genetic relationships with growth traits (papers I and II)?
- 2) How can solid-wood and fibre traits be incorporated into selective breeding programs, and how much gain will be obtained for these traits using different selection indices incorporating wood quality traits (paper I and II)?
- 3) Is there any genetic gain in selection for earlier transition from juvenile to mature wood with respect to MFA (paper IIII)?
- 4) How large is $G \times E$ for growth and stiffness and how is the performance of provenances in different breeding zones of lodgepole pine (paper IV)?

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Field trials

Six lodgepole pine open-pollinated progeny trials within breeding zone two (Jovan and Mader), planted in 1981; breeding zone four (Hemmingen and Övra), planted in 1980; and breeding zone five (Lagfors and Hemmesmark), planted in 1979 were selected for the studies underlying this thesis (Figure 4. A).

Trials Mader and Jovan originated from four provenances in Yukon (Carmacks, Frances Lake, Watson Lake, and Whitehorse), trials Övra and Hemmingen originated from three provenances in BC (Fort St. John, Prince George, Fort Nelson) and one provenance in Yukon (Watson Lake), and trials Lagfors and Hemmesmark originated from two provenances in BC (Fort St. John and Prince George) (Figure 4. B).

The experimental design for each trial was a randomized complete block layout with five replicates. Each family was planted in 10 (column) x 12 (row) tree plots within each block. Tree spacing was 2 m between rows and 1.5 m within rows. Trials within each breeding zone included ~ 200 common half-sib families, while there were no common families among breeding zones.

In addition, two 21-year-old Norway spruce progeny trials, S21F9021146 aka F1146 (trial 1) and S21F9021147 aka F1147 (trial 2), comprised of 1,373 and 1,375 half-sib families, respectively, located in southern Sweden, were utilized in study III. Both trials were planted as randomized incomplete blocks with single-tree plots at spacing of $1.4 \text{ m} \times 1.4 \text{ m}$ (Chen *et al.*, 2014).



Figure 4. Locations of six lodgepole pine progeny trials (within three breeding zones) in northern Sweden (A) and their seed origins (provenances) distributed in Yukon and British Columbia (BC) in Western Canada (B).

3.2 Studied traits and non-destructive measurements

3.2.1 SilviScan measurements

Bark-to-bark increment cores (12 mm) were collected at 1.3 m height from 399 trees at Övra (approximately four trees from 100 families) and from 424 trees at Lagfors (approximately four trees from 107 families) and assessed using a SilviScan instrument (Innventia, now part of RISE, Stockholm, Sweden). Before the SilviScan measurement, each increment core was sawn into a 7 mm high \times 2 mm thick radial strip from pith to bark. High-resolution pith-to-bark radial variations for three solidwood quality traits (wood density, MFA, and modulus of elasticity (clearwood stiffness; MOE_S)) addressed in paper I, and four fibre traits (RFW, tangential fibre width (TFW), FC, and FWT) addressed in paper II, were obtained (Table 1). Density was obtained as an average for 25 µm radial intervals, while MFA was averaged over 2 mm intervals, and these estimates were used to predict MOE_s (Evans, 2006). Norway spruce increment cores were collected at breast height from 5,618 trees and high-resolution radial variations in MFA from pith to bark were measured for each

core, using SilviScan (study III).

3.2.2 Acoustic velocity measurement

The Hitman ST300 tool (Fibre-gen, Christchurch; New Zealand) (Figure 5) was used to measure acoustic velocity of about 7500 standing trees within 324 half-sib families, addressed in studies I and IV. Two sensor probes were inserted into the outer wood of the tree, with the lowest probe at around 1 m high. Probes were placed in sections of the stem that had fewer branches and were vertically aligned at a distance of about 70 to 110 cm apart. The distance was measured with a laser beam, and an acoustic wave was passed through the stem by striking the transmitter probe with a steel hammer. The wave was picked up by the receiver probe and its time of flight (tof) was recorded. Two series of eight hits were taken per tree, and an average of two measurements was taken. Dynamic MOE (MOE_{tof}) was estimated using the product of squared sound velocity (m/s) multiplied by a constant green density of 1000 (kg/m3) (Wang *et al.*, 2001).

SilviScan measurements	Abbreviation	Method of determination
Wood Density	Density	X-ray densitometry
Radial fibre width	RFW	Image analysis
Tangential fibre width	TFW	Image analysis
Fibre coarseness	FC	Calculate with RFW, TFW and Density
Fibre wall thickness	FWT	Calculate with RFW, TFW and Density
Microfibril angle	MFA	X-ray diffraction
Modulus of elasticity	MOE _s	X-ray diffraction and density

Table 1. Solid-wood and fibre wood SilviScan measurements and their abbreviations



Figure 5. Hitman ST300 tool used to measure the acoustic velocity of standing trees

3.3 Statistical analysis

3.3.1 General model

All the statistical analysis were done using ASReml statistical software package (Gilmour *et al.*, 2009). To estimate genetic and phenotypic parameters and correlations, both univariate and multivariate mixed-linear models were used. The general univariate model equation is:

$$y = Xb + Zu + e$$

Where y is the vector of each individual tree observation, b is the vector of fixed effect, u is the vector of random effect and e is the vector of residuals. X and Z are the incidence matrices of fixed effect (b) and random effect (u), respectively. Bivariate models were used to estimate genetic and phenotypic correlations between two different traits (papers I, II, IV), age-age correlations (papers I and II), and type-B genetic correlations (genetic correlations for the same trait in different sites) (paper IV).

3.3.2 Index selection

Variance-covariance matrices for diameter at breast height (DBH) and MOE were estimated using multivariate linear mixed models. The Smith-Hazel selection index (Hazel, 1943; Smith, 1936) with different sets of economic weights for MOE_s , ranging from 5 to 15 relative to 1 for DBH, was applied (paper II). The index is written as follows:

$$I = b_1 P_{DBH} + b_2 P_{MOE}$$

Where P_{DBH} and P_{MOE} are an individual tree's measurement of DBH and MOE_s, respectively, b_1 and b_2 are their respective index coefficients. The index coefficient (*b*) was obtained as follows:

$$b = P^{-1}Ga$$

where P is the phenotypic variance-covariance matrix for selection traits, G is the additive genetic variance-covariance matrix between selection traits and objective traits, and a is the vector of economic weights for each of the objective traits.

The expected genetic gain (ΔA) of each individual trait included in a Smith-Hazel index was calculated as:

$$\Delta A_x = i \frac{(b_x V_{Ax} + b_y COV_{Axy})}{\sigma_l}$$

where ΔA_x is the expected genetic gain in trait *x*, *i* is the selection intensity of 1% (*i*=2.67), V_{Ax} is the additive genetic variance of trait *x*, COV_{Axy} is the additive genetic covariance of trait *x* and associated trait *y*, b_x and b_y are the index coefficients generated from the Smith-Hazel index, and σ_I is the phenotypic standard deviation of the index.

3.3.3 Model fit and determination of transition age

In the study described in paper III, the radial patterns for MFA of all 5618 Norway spruce and 823 lodgepole pine individual trees were plotted against the cambial age. However, there were some individuals for which the general decreasing trend of MFA from pith to bark had been changed, due to some disturbances such as compression wood. Therefore, such outliers (abnormal curves) were identified and excluded prior to data analysis, as follows:

1) Exclusion_1 or basic method: exclusion of those individuals for which MFA values increased with cambial age. This was the baseline of data treatment and thus the first step of following exclusions 2 and 3.

2) Exclusion_2 or shape-based method: following the basic method, annual rings of the individuals for which average MFA values were greater than their three previous rings average MFA value, were removed.

3) Exclusion_3 or family-based method: following the baseline method, annual rings of the individuals, which had average MFA values deviating from their corresponding family-mean MFA values by more than $1.96 \times SD$, were excluded from data analysis.

After removal of outliers, six different regression functions were fitted to the pithto-bark MFA profiles of the individual trees. A threshold value of 20° was considered for MFA and when the parameter of the fitted functions fell below the threshold, the estimated parameter was defined as MFA transition.

Norrrow-sense heritability estimates and genetic gains in direct selection of MFA transition were obtained for both species.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Traits summary

Mean values, coefficients of variation, and narrow-sense heritability estimates (h^2) for DBH and stiffness measured acoustically (MOE_{tof}) at the six sites are presented in Table 2 (Paper IV), and nine wood quality traits obtained based on benchmark SilviScan using two sites are presented in Table 3 (Paper I and II). In general, coefficient of additive (CV_A) and phenotypic (CV_p) variations were higher for DBH than for wood quality traits, except for MFA. Such pattern had been previously reported in various conifers (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Hong *et al.*, 2014; Gaspar *et al.*, 2008). For DBH, CV_A ranged from 7.4% to 13.7% with the highest value obtained at Hemmesmark and the lowest obtained at Lagfors. For MOE_{tof}, CV_A ranged from 7.2% to 11.8% with the highest value obtained at Mader and the lowest obtained at Lagfors (Table 2).

For SilviScan-based solid-wood quality traits, the highest CV_A and CV_p were obtained for MFA and MOE_s at Övra. Similarly, CV_A and CV_p were the highest for MFA at Lagfors, while CV_A for MOE_s was significantly lower at Lagfors. Among fibre traits, FC was the most variable trait at both trials while TFW had the lowest CV_A and CV_p (Table 3). In accordance with results of other studies for conifers, such as Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2016) and Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014), solid-wood traits were generally more variable than fibre traits, particularly for MOE.

Trial Trait					Trait							
	DBH (mm)						MOE _{tof} (GPa)					
	Ν	Mean	$CV_A(\%)$	CV_{p} (%)	h ²	Ν	Mean	$CV_A(\%)$	$CV_p(\%)$	h ²		
Mader	1943	132	11.8	20.8	0.32 (0.09)	1174	11.2	11.8	17.8	0.44 (0.11)		
Jovan	5547	116.8	9	21.8	0.17 (0.03)	1241	13.7	8.6	12.4	0.47 (0.11)		
Övra	4329	130.5	7.6	24.3	0.10 (0.04)	1250	13.7	7.2	17	0.18 (0.09)		
Hemmingen	4662	114.1	10.8	26	0.17 (0.04)	1242	13.6	9.4	13.9	0.46 (0.11)		
Lagfors	6289	128.1	7.4	21.6	0.12 (0.04)	1332	15.9	7.2	14	0.29 (0.10)		
Hemmesmark	3129	105.2	13.7	28.7	0.23 (0.08)	1325	15.1	9.4	12.4	0.58 (0.11)		

Table 2. Number of observations (N), mean values, coefficients of additive (CV_A) and phenotypic (CV_p) variation and narrow-sense heritability (h^2) for growth and acoustic stiffness of six lodgepole pine progeny trials within three breeding zones (parameters presented in paper IV).

DBH, diameter at breast height; MOEtof, modulus of elasticity of time of flight

Standard errors of heritabilities are in the parenthesis

Benchmark SilviScan				Т	rial			
	Övra]			
	Mean	$CV_A(\%)$	CV_p (%)	h ²	Mean	$CV_A(\%)$	CV_p (%)	h ²
Solid-wood traits								
Density (kg/m)	456.6	4.2	8.1	0.29 (0.22)	483.2	5.6	7	0.67 (0.21)
EWD (kg/m)	343.2	4	7.2	0.33 (0.22)	357.2	5.2	6.1	0.77 (0.22)
LWD (kg/m)	735.8	4.3	6.9	0.40 (0.23)	774.4	3.7	6.3	0.39 (0.20)
MOE _s (GPa)	10.4	11.5	21	0.30 (0.20)	12	5.6	15.7	0.13 (0.16)
MFA (°)	18.6	15.2	27.9	0.30 (0.20)	16.6	13.5	23.8	0.33 (0.19)
Fibre traits								
RFW (µm)	31.7	4.6	5.9	0.71 (0.21)	30.9	4	4.7	0.73 (0.20)
TFW (µm)	28.8	2.5	3.9	0.44 (0.21)	28.6	3	3.5	0.74 (0.20)
FWT (µm)	2.4	4	7.8	0.29 (0.21)	2.6	6	7.2	0.72 (0.21)
FC (µg/m)	397.7	5.7	8	0.52 (0.21)	405.9	6.2	7.5	0.72 (0.20)

Table 3. *Mean values, coefficients of additive (* CV_A *) and phenotypic (* CV_p *) variation and Narrow-sense heritabilities (* h^2 *) for solid-wood and fibre traits of two lodgepole pine progeny trials (parameters presented in paper II).*

EWD, early wood density; LWD, latewood density; MOEs, modulus of elasticity; MFA, microfibril angle; RFW, radial fibre width; TFW, tangential fibre width;

FWT, fibre wall thickness; FC, fibre coarseness

4.2 Inheritance of growth and wood quality traits

Among the SilviScan-based solid-wood traits, the highest heritabilities were obtained for wood densities at Lagfors, ranging from 0.39 to 0.77, with the highest value obtained for early wood density (EWD) (h^2 =0.77), while such estimates ranged from 0.29 to 0.40 at Övra. Heritabilities obtained for fibre traits were generally higher at Lagfors ($h^2 \ge 0.72$), whereas they were lower at Övra (ranged from 0.29 to 0.71). Our heritability estimates were generally higher for wood quality traits than for growth traits, in line with results obtained in other conifers (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Hong *et al.*, 2014; Wu *et al.*, 2008). Further, fibre traits were generally more heritable than solid-wood traits in our study and heritabilities of fibre traits were higher than those reported for Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014), Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2016), and white spruce (Lenz *et al.*, 2010), particularly at Lagfors.

4.3 Correlations among growth, solid-wood and fibre traits

In study I, we found several unfavourable genetic correlations (r_A) between growth and solid-wood traits. SilviScan-based MOE was more negatively correlated with DBH (Figure 6) than those measured acoustically (Hayatgheibi *et al.*, 2017). Such finding had been previously reported, whereby SilviScan-derived MOE was more negatively correlated with DBH, volume and height in Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014) and Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2015).

Among all wood density component traits, the most unfavourable genetic correlation was found between DBH and early wood density (EWD) at both trials. Low to moderate negative genetic correlations, associated with high standard errors, were observed between wood density and DBH. Genetic correlation of density with growth traits was highly unfavourable in radiata pine (Wu *et al.*, 2008; Baltunis *et al.*, 2007), Norway and white spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2014; Lenz *et al.*, 2010; Steffenrem *et al.*, 2009; Ivković *et al.*, 2002), and Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014), but non-significant in maritime pine (*P. pinaster* Ait) (Bouffier *et al.*, 2009) and loblolly pine (*P. taeda* L.) (Antony *et al.*, 2013).

It is well known that MOE is correlated with density and MFA (Wu *et al.*, 2007). However, MOE_s was less correlated with density in Lagfors (r_A = 0.29) than in Övra (r_A = 0.65). Further, MFA had a moderate to high negative, but favourable genetic correlation with MOE_s and MOE_{tof} at both trials and very high genetic correlations were observed between MOE_s and MOE_{tof} ($r_A \sim 0.90$). Correlation of fibre traits with growth and solid-wood traits was assessed in paper II. Genetic correlation of DBH with RFW and TFW was moderate, ranging from 0.32 to 0.55, while it was nearly zero with FWT, at both trials. Similarly, DBH had a moderate genetic correlation with FC at Övra, while such correlation was non-significant at Lagfors (study II, Table 2).

The non-significant correlation observed between DBH and FWT for lodgepole pine in our study, is in contrast with previously reported correlations in other conifers. As such, DBH was negatively correlated with FWT in Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2016) and Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2014), implying that trees with high volume growth tend to have thinner walls and thus lower density. We found a very high correlation between density and FWT at both trials ($r_A \sim 0.90$), similar to what was reported for Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2016), but higher than those reported in Scots pine and white spruce (Hong *et al.*, 2014; Lenz *et al.*, 2010). In addition, FWT was highly correlated with FC.

Further, density had a moderate negative and unfavourable correlation with RFW and TFW at both trials. Similarly, FWT had a low to moderate negative genetic correlation with RFW and TFW in Övra. This implies that breeding for density, which enhances pulp yield, may produce tracheids with smaller diameters and thicker walls, and thus, will lead in inferior paper-sheet formation and surface properties (Lenz *et al.*, 2010).

In study IV, genetic correlations between DBH and MOE_{tof} for single-site and combined-site analysis were obtained. We found that growth-stiffness genetic correlation is more unfavourable in breeding zone two (Mader and Jovan) and four (Övra and Hemmingen), while such correlations were non-significant in breeding zone five (Lagfors and Hemmesmark). Results were shown in Table 4 and 5 in study IV.



Figure 6. Scatter plot of lodgepole pine individual trees breeding values for diameter at breast height (DBH) and modulus of elasticity (MOE)

4.4 Age-age correlations and efficiency of early age selection for growth and wood quality traits

Age-age genetic correlations from early ages to the reference age of 26 years were very high for solid-wood (paper I) and fibre traits (paper II) in lodgepole pine, reaching 0.9 at cambial age four for MFA and FC; cambial age six for RFW and TFW; and cambial age 10 for MOE and ring width in both trials. Age-age genetic correlations for density and FWT in Övra reached unity at cambial age four, while such correlation obtained at age 10 in Lagfors. Due to the high age-age genetic correlation and high heritability estimates obtained for wood quality traits, we observed that early selection is very effective for wood quality traits in lodgepole pine.

Among all studied traits in this thesis, MFA had the highest early selection efficiency as the heritability estimates and age-age genetic correlations obtained at early ages were very high for this trait. Such a high early selection efficiency for MFA as early as age four had also been previously reported in Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2014) and white spruce (Lenz *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, we found that early

selection for wood density, MOE, and fibre traits is optimal at about cambial ages of eight to 10 years in lodgepole pine, similar to what was found in Scots pine (Hong *et al.*, 2015). It is known that early age selection is more efficient for wood quality traits than for growth traits in conifers owing to the higher heritability estimates at early ages and higher age-age correlation obtained for wood quality traits compared to growth traits (Hong *et al.*, 2015; Chen *et al.*, 2014; Wu *et al.*, 2007; Li & Wu, 2005). Similar pattern was observed in our study as selection efficiency for ring width was only about 0.5 at cambial age 14 in Övra and it was nearly zero in Lagfors due to the very low heritability estimate obtained for ring width at the reference age in Lagfors.

4.5 Selection scenarios incorporating wood quality traits

Several selection scenarios for incorporating wood quality traits were studied. Genetic gains and correlated genetic responses for growth and solid-wood (paper I); and fibre traits (paper II), using selection intensity (i) of 2.67 (i.e., 1%) were assessed. Results are presented in Table 4. Selection based on DBH would result in an increase of 7.9 % in DBH, slight increases in fibre traits, but unfavourable -5.5, -2.3, -1.5% changes in MOE_s, MOE_{tof}, and density, respectively (Table 4).

Selection based on MOE_s, would incur increases of 13, 11.4, and 3.2% in MOE_s, MOE_{tof}, and density, respectively, but unfavourable decrease of -6.5 % in DBH, and negligible changes in fibre traits. Due to the unfavourable growth-stiffness genetic correlation obtained in paper I, index selection with appropriate economical weights for simultaneous improvement of these traits was proposed. Economic weights for growth and stiffness in lodgepole pine have not been estimated using production-system parameter estimates. Recent study by Chen *et al.* (2016) in Norway spruce suggested that an increase of 1 GPa in MOE is 10 times as profitable as an increase of 1 mm in diameter, based on the economic weights of growth and MOE used in radiata pine (Ivković *et al.*, 2006).

Therefore, to examine the importance of relative weights of DBH and MOE in lodgepole pine, a selection index with different sets of economic weights for MOE_s, ranging from 5 to 15, relative to 1 for DBH, was applied in our study (paper II). Results are shown in Figure 7. As the economic weighting of MOE decreased from the weight of 10 to 5, the gain for MOE declined to -0.43 GPa, whereas the gain for DBH increased to about 9.5 mm. When the economic weighting for MOE increased to 15, the gain for MOE increased by about 1.1 GPa, while the gain for DBH decreased by about -3.5 mm. We found that the economic weighting of MOE ranging from 7 to 10 resulted in positive genetic gains for both traits.

In the subsequent analysis reported in paper II, we observed that, selection index combining DBH and MOE using economic weights (10 for MOE relative to 1 for DBH) led to slight increases in TFW (1.5%), FWT (3.6%), FC (4.4%), and wood density (2.3%).

Selection trait	Response (%)									
	DBH	MOE _s	MOE_{tof}	Density	RFW	TFW	FWT	FC		
DBH	7.9	-5.5	-2.3	-1.5	2.1	1	0.16	2.5		
MOEs	-6.5	13	11.4	3.2	-1.6	0.8	3.2	2.8		

Table 4. Genetic gains (in bold and italic format) and correlated genetic responses for DBH, solid-wood and fibre traits



Figure 7. Expected genetic changes of diameter at breast height (DBH) (bold) and modulus of elasticity (MOE) for selection based on DBH and MOE with indicated economic weights for MOE relative to a constant economic weight (1) for DBH (x-axis), under a selection intensity of 1% (i=2.67).

4.6 Genotype by environment interactions and provenance performances

In forestry, G×E has been extensively studied (Li *et al.*, 2017; Matheson & Cotterill, 1990; Shelbourne, 1972) and significant G×E, primarily for growth, has been reported in various important conifers, such as radiata pine (Ivković *et al.*, 2015; Baltunis *et al.*, 2010; Wu & Matheson, 2005), loblolly pine (Roth *et al.*, 2007; Li & McKeand, 1989), slash pine (*P. elliottii* Engelm) (Hodge & White, 1992), and Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2017). According to literature (Apiolaza, 2012; Baltunis *et al.*, 2010; Gapare *et al.*, 2010; Hallingbäck *et al.*, 2008; Wu & Matheson, 2005), G×E for wood quality traits is generally low compared to growth traits.

We observed that type-B genetic correlations (r_b) for growth, stiffness (MOE_{tof}), and survival were mostly high within each breeding zones, except for DBH and survival in the breeding zone four $(r_b=0.74 \text{ and } 0.40, \text{ respectively})$ and for MOE_{tof} in the breeding zone two $(r_b=0.46)$, indicating that $G \times E$ might not be important in lodgepole pine, except for stiffness in northern Sweden (Study IV). Similarly, results of other studies, investigating the extent of $G \times E$ for growth and wood quality traits in Swedish breeding programs revealed that $G \times E$ is negligible for wood quality traits in Norway spruce (Chen *et al.*, 2016; Chen *et al.*, 2014; Hallingbäck *et al.*, 2008) and low to moderate for growth in Scots pine (Hannrup *et al.*, 2008).

Previous studies, investigating performance of lodgepole pine provenances in Sweden, had reported that survival is largely dependent on the latitude of origin, whereby seed sources of northern origin had higher survival as well as higher rate of seed production (Lindgren *et al.*, 1994). Additionally, it has been reported that height growth is associated with altitude of origin, whereby fastest growth was achieved for provenances about 800 m, and there was a decline in growth above this threshold (Fries, 1986; Lindgren, 1983)

Relative performance of provenances for DBH and MOE_{tof} within a test site and within breeding zones were assessed (Study IV). Results were shown in Figures 8 and 9. We found that the mean performance of provenances, particularly for mean DBH, differed significantly within a breeding zone. As such, seed sources originating from Yukon, the northernmost provenances, had better growth performance in higher latitude, particularly provenances Frances Lake and Whitehorse.

In contrast, seed sources originating from BC, had better growth performance when planted at trials with lower latitude within a breeding zone. Furthermore, maximum growth performance of provenances originating from BC, Fort St. John and Prince George in particular, was achieved at Övra, the trial associated with the highest precipitation during vegetative growth and the highest elevation. In contrast to what was observed for DBH, we found that provenances originating from Yukon, particularly Whitehorse, had the lowest mean stiffness at Mader (higher latitude), and the highest mean stiffness of seed sources originating from BC (Fort St. John and Prince George) was obtained when planted at Lagfors and Hemmesmark, trials which had the warmest temperatures and the lowest elevations.



Figure 8. Diameter at breast height (DBH) (mm) means for provenances of lodgepole at the six progeny trials (within three breeding zones) in northern Sweden. The vertical lines in the middle of the boxes are error bars.



Figure 9. Modulus of elasticity (MOE) (GPa) means for provenances of lodgepole at the six progeny trials (within three breeding zones) in northern Sweden. The vertical lines in the middle of the boxes are error bars.

4.7 MFA transition from juvenile to mature wood

4.7.1 MFA radial variation

For both lodgepole pine and Norway spruce, the MFA average profiles decreased from above 30° close to the pith towards about 10° close to the bark (Figure 10). In Norway spruce, mean MFA profile decreased from about 30° at the pith and then stabilized after reaching a cambial age of 10 years at about 10° in Höreda and about 12° in Erikstorp. The mean MFA profile for lodgepole pine started at 40° followed by a rapid decrease to about 30° after 3 years, after which the shape of the development was similar to that for Norway spruce but slower, stabilizing after cambial age of 15 years at about 12° in Övra and about 10° in Lagfors.



Figure 10. Radial trends for MFA of Norway spruce at two trials (Höreda and Erikstorp) from cambial age 1 to 20 and for *Pinus contorta* at two trials (Övra and Lagfors) from cambial age 1 to 30. The black lines represent the actual observations from all individual trees and the red line is the mean radial variation of MFA against the cambial age.

4.7.2 Heritability estimates and genetic gains

Heritability estimates obtained for lodgepole pine MFA transition were greater than those obtained for Norway spruce (paper III, Table 1). Moreover, in both species, heritabilities were generally highest based on the slope function, while they were lowest based on the logistic function, under all exclusion methods. Heritabilities ranged from 0.08 to 0.23 for Norway spruce, with the highest value obtained based on the slope function under exclusion_2 and the lowest value obtained based on the logistic function_3.

For lodgepole pine, all heritability estimates were nearly zero based on the logistic function. This is driven by the inability of this function to estimate MFA transition, using the threshold value of 20° . In general, heritabilities ranged from 0.15 to 0.53 in Övra and from 0.22 to 0.43 in Lagfors (logistic function was excluded). In addition to the slope function, high heritabilities were obtained based on the central peak (ranging from 0.33 to 0.38) and negative exponential functions (ranging from 0.26 to 0.34) in Övra, and based on the arctangent (ranging from 0.41 to 0.43) and polynomial (ranging from 0.36 to 0.38) in Lagfors.

As was observed for heritability estimates, genetic gains obtained based on the slope function were highest, while those obtained based on the logistic function were lowest, regardless of which exclusion method was applied. In addition to the slope function, high genetic gains were obtained based on the negative-exponential and central peak functions in Norway spruce and based on arctangent and negative-exponential functions in lodgepole pine (paper III, Table 2).

These findings indicate that it is possible to select for an earlier MFA transition from juvenile to mature in Norway spruce and lodgepole pine selective breeding programs.

5 Conclusions and Future perspectives

Based on the four studies in this thesis, following conclusions can be drawn with future perspectives:

- 1) Wood density, MOE_s, latewood proportion (LWP), and values of fibre properties increased from the pith, while MFA and ring width were high around the pith, then gradually decreased and stabilized towards the bark. In general, observed radial age trends were similar at two lodgepole pine trials, though wood density, MOE_s, LWP, FWT, and FC were higher in Lagfors compared to Övra, while ring width, MFA, and RFW were lower, after the cambial age of 18 years.
- 2) Heritability estimates of wood density and fibre properties were low near the pith, increased until they peaked between the cambial ages of 8-16 years, then stabilized towards the bark. In general, all estimated heritabilities were significantly higher after the cambial age of 4 years in Lagfors, except for its MOE_s heritability estimates, which were lower after the cambial age of 12 years.
- 3) Early selection at cambial age of 4 years for MFA and about cambial ages of 8-10 years for wood density, MOE, and fibre properties would be highly efficient in lodgepole pine breeding programs.
- 4) Due to the unfavourable DBH-stiffness genetic correlation, selection for a 1% increase in DBH, would result in decreases of 5.5% and 2.3% lodgepole pine stiffness (MOE_s and MOE_{tof}, respectively). However, Simultaneous improvement of growth and stiffness is achievable when a selection index with 7 to 10 economical weights for stiffness (MOE_s) relative to 1 for DBH is incorporated.

- 5) Unfavourable relationship between solid-wood and pulpwood traits suggests that breeding strategies must be implemented to improve wood quality of lodgepole pine for multiple uses.
- 6) There is a possibility to select for an earlier MFA transition from juvenile to mature wood, and thus, decreasing the proportion of the log containing juvenile wood in lodgepole pine selective breeding programs.
- 7) Although type-B genetic correlations for growth and stiffness were mostly strong, $G \times E$ for stiffness was significant within the most northern breeding zone. Furthermore, the low stiffness of lodgepole pine as well as its unfavourable genetic correlation with growth in northern Sweden, should be considered in the selective breeding programs.
- 8) Provenances of Yukon origin had the highest growth but the lowest stiffness at higher latitude, while those of BC origin grew faster at lower latitudes, within a breeding zone. To achieve the highest stiffness for lodgepole pine, provenances of BC origin should be planted at the low-altitude zone (breeding zone five).

References

- Abdel-Gadir, A.Y. & Krahmer, R.L. (1993). Genetic variation in the age of demarcation between juvenile and mature wood in Douglas-fir. *Wood and Fiber Science*, 25(4), pp. 384-394.
- Alteyrac, J., Cloutier, A. & Zhang, S. (2006). Characterization of juvenile wood to mature wood transition age in black spruce (*Picea mariana* (Mill.) BSP) at different stand densities and sampling heights. *Wood Science and Technology*, 40(2), pp. 124-138.
- Antony, F., Schimleck, L.R., Jordan, L., Hornsby, B., Dahlen, J., Daniels, R.F., Clark III, A., Apiolaza, L.A. & Huber, D. (2013). Growth and wood properties of genetically improved loblolly pine: propagation type comparison and genetic parameters. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 44(3), pp. 263-272.
- Apiolaza, L.A. (2012). Basic density of radiata pine in New Zealand: genetic and environmental factors. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 8(1), pp. 87-96.
- Backlund, I. (2013). *Cost-effective cultivation of lodgepole pine for biorefinery applications*. Doctoral Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences.
- Baltunis, B.S., Gapare, W. J. & Wu, H.X. (2010). Genetic parameters and genotype by environment interaction in radiata pine for growth and wood quality traits in Australia. *Silvae Genetica*, 59(1-6), pp. 113-124.
- Baltunis, B.S., Wu, H.X. & Powell, M.B. (2007). Inheritance of density, microfibril angle, and modulus of elasticity in juvenile wood of *Pinus radiata* at two locations in Australia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 37(11), pp. 2164-2174.
- Barnett, J. & Jeronimidis, G. (2009). *Wood quality and its biological basis*: Blackwell Scientific Publishers, Oxford, U.K.
- Bendtsen, B. & Senft, J. (1984). Mechanical and anatomical properties in individual growth rings of plantation-grown eastern cottonwood and loblolly pine. *Wood and Fiber Science*, 18(1), pp. 23-38.
- Bhat, K.M., Priya, P.B. & Rugmini, P. (2001). Characterisation of juvenile wood in teak. *Wood Science and Technology*, 34(6), pp. 517-532.
- Booker, R. & Sell, J. (1998). The nanostructure of the cell wall of softwoods and its functions in a living tree. *Holz als Roh-und Werkstoff*, 56(1), pp.1-8.

- Bouffier, L., Raffin, A., Rozenberg, P., Meredieu, C. & Kremer, A. (2009). What are the consequences of growth selection on wood density in the French maritime pine breeding programme? *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 5(1), pp. 11-25.
- Bridgwater, F. & Stonecypher, R. Genotype x environment interaction: Implications in tree breeding programs. I: Handlingar från Proceedings of 5th North American Forest Biology Workshop edited by CA HOLLIS and AE SQUILLACE. Univ. Florida, Gainesville, FL1978, pp. 46-63.
- Carrillo, I., Aguayo, M.G., Valenzuela, S., Mendonça, R.T. & Elissetche, J.P. (2015). Variations in wood anatomy and fiber biometry of *Eucalyptus globulus* genotypes with different wood density. *Wood research*, 60(1), pp. 1-10.
- Cave, I. (1968). The anisotropic elasticity of the plant cell wall. *Wood Science and Technology*, 2(4), pp. 268-278.
- Cave, I. & Walker, J. (1994). Stiffness of wood in fast-grown plantation softwoods: the influence of microfibril angle. *Forest products journal*, 44(5), pp. 43-48.
- Chen, Z.-Q., Gil, M.R.G., Karlsson, B., Lundqvist, S.-O., Olsson, L. & Wu, H.X. (2014). Inheritance of growth and solid wood quality traits in a large Norway spruce population tested at two locations in southern Sweden. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 10(5), pp. 1291-1303.
- Chen, Z.-Q., Karlsson, B., Lundqvist, S.-O., Gil, M.R.G., Olsson, L. & Wu, H.X. (2015). Estimating solid wood properties using Pilodyn and acoustic velocity on standing trees of Norway spruce. *Annals of Forest Science*, 72(4), pp. 499-508.
- Chen, Z.-Q., Karlsson, B. & Wu, H.X. (2017). Patterns of additive genotype-byenvironment interaction in tree height of Norway spruce in southern and central Sweden. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 13(1), pp. 13-25.
- Chen, Z., Karlsson, B., Morling, T., Olsson, L., Mellerowicz, E.J., Wu, H.X., Lundqvist, S.O. & Gil, M.R.G. (2016). Genetic analysis of fiber dimensions and their correlation with stem diameter and solid-wood properties in Norway spruce. *Tree Genetics and Genomes*, 12(6), p. 123.
- Clark, A.III, Daniels, R.F. & Jordan, L. (2006). Juvenile/mature wood transition in loblolly pine as defined by annual ring specific gravity, proportion of latewood, and microfibril angle. *Wood and Fiber Science*, 38(2), pp. 292-299.
- Critchfield, W.B. (1957). Geographic variation in *Pinus contorta. Publ.* Maria Moors Cabot Foundation, Publication No. 3. Harvard University, Cambridge, Mass.
- Critchfield, W.B. & Little, E.L. (1966). Geographic distribution of the pines of the world: US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service.
- Danell, Ö., Eriksson, T. & Rosvall, O. (1993). Currently suggested plans for long-term breeding of lodgepole pine and other conifers in Sweden. *Rapport-Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen foer Skoglig Genetik och Vaextfysiologi (Sweden).*
- Despain, D.G. (2001). Dispersal ecology of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* Dougl.) in its native environment as related to Swedish forestry. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 141(1-2), pp. 59-68.
- Donaldson, L. (2008). Microfibril angle: measurement, variation and relationships-a review. *Iawa Journal*, 29(4), pp. 345-386.

- Elfving, B., Ericsson, T. & Rosvall, O. (2001). The introduction of lodgepole pine for wood production in Sweden — a review. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 141(1–2), pp. 15-29.
- Elfving, B. & Norgren, O. (1993). Volume yield superiority of lodgepole pine compared to Scots pine in Sweden. In: Lindgren D, editor. 1993. *Pinus contorta* – From untamed forest to domesticated crop. Proceedings of a meeting with IUFRO WP 2.02.06 and Frans Kempe Symposium. 1992 Aug 24-28; Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report 11:69-80.
- Engelmark, O., Sjöberg, K., Andersson, B., Rosvall, O., Ågren, G.I., Baker, W.L., Barklund, P., Björkman, C., Despain, D.G. & Elfving, B. (2001). Ecological effects and management aspects of an exotic tree species: the case of lodgepole pine in Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 141(1-2), pp. 3-13.
- Ericsson, T. (1994). Lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta var. latifolia*) breeding in Swedenresults and prospects based on early evaluations [dissertation]. Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Umeå; 32 pp.
- Ericsson, T. & Danell, Ö. (1995). Genetic evaluation, multiple-trait selection criteria and genetic thinning of *pinus contorta* var. latifolia seed orchards in sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 10(1-4), pp. 313-325.
- Evans, R. (2006). Wood stiffness by x-ray diffractometry. In Characterisation of the cellulosic cell wall. In Proceedings of the Workshop, Grand Lake, Colo., 25–27 August 2003. Southern Research Station, University of Iowa, and the Society of Wood Science and Technology. Edited by D. Stokke and L. Groom. Blackwell Publishing, Ames, Iowa. Chapter 11, pp. 1–8
- Fries, A. (1986). Volume growth and wood density of plus tree progenies of *Pinus* contorta in two Swedish field trials. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 1(1-4), pp. 403-419.
- Fries, A. (1987). Genetics of plus tree progenies of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta* ssp. latifolia) and possible implications for a breeding program in Sweden.
- Fries, A. & Lindgren, D. (1986). Performance of plus tree progenies of *Pinus contorta* originating north of latitude 55° N in a Swedish trial at 64° N. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 16(3), pp. 427-437.
- Gapare, W.J., Baltunis, B.S., Ivković, M. & Wu, H.X. (2009). Genetic correlations among juvenile wood quality and growth traits and implications for selection strategy in *Pinus radiata* D. Don. *Annals of Forest Science*, 66(6), pp. 1-9.
- Gapare, W.J., Ivković, M., Baltunis, B.S., Matheson, C.A. & Wu, H.X. (2010). Genetic stability of wood density and diameter in *Pinus radiata* D. Don plantation estate across Australia. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 6(1), pp. 113-125.
- Gapare, W.J., Wu, H.X. & Abarquez, A. (2006). Genetic control of the time of transition from juvenile to mature wood in *Pinus radiata* D. Don. *Annals of Forest Science*, 63(8), pp. 871-878.
- Gaspar, M.J., Louzada, J.L., Silva, M.E., Aguiar, A. & Almeida, M.H. (2008). Age trends in genetic parameters of wood density components in 46 half-sibling families of *Pinus pinaster*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 38(6), pp. 1470-1477.

- Gilmour, A.R., Gogel, B., Cullis, B., Thompson, R. & Butler, D. (2009). ASReml user guide release 3.0. VSN International Ltd, Hemel Hempstead, UK.
- Hagner, S. (1971). Cultivation of *Pinus contorta* in northern Sweden. *Swedish Forestry Association Journal*, 3, pp. 219-246.
- Hagner, S. (1993). SCA's provenance experiments with lodgepole pine in north Sweden. In: Lindgren D, editor. 1993. Pinus contorta – From untamed forest to domesticated crop. Proceedings of a meeting with IUFRO WP 2.02.06 and Frans Kempe Symposium. 1992 Aug 24-28; Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report 11:146-161
- Hagner, S. & Fahlroth, S. (1974). On the prospects of cultivating Pinus contorta in north Sweden. Sveriges Skogsvårdsförbunds Tidskrift 4, 477-528. Swedish with English summary.
- Hallingbäck, H.R., Sanchez, L. & Wu, H.X. (2014). Single versus subdivided population strategies in breeding against an adverse genetic correlation. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 10(3), pp. 605-617.
- Hallingbäck, H.R., Jansson, G. & Hannrup, B. (2008). Genetic parameters for grain angle in 28-year-old Norway spruce progeny trials and their parent seed orchard. *Annals of Forest Science*, 65(3), pp. 301-308.
- Hannrup, B., Ekberg, I. & Persson, A. (2000). Genetic correlations among wood, growth capacity and stem traits in *Pinus sylvestris*. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, 15(2), pp. 161-170.
- Hannrup, B., Jansson, G. & Danell, Ö. (2008). Genotype by environment interaction in *Pinus sylvestris* L. in southern Sweden. *Silvae Genetica*, 57(1-6), pp. 306-311.
- Hayatgheibi, H., Fries, A., Kroon, J. & Wu, H. (2017). Genetic analysis of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) solid wood quality traits. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*. 47, pp.1303–1313.
- Hazel, L.N. (1943). The genetic basis for constructing selection indexes. *Genetics*, 28(6), pp. 476-490.
- Hodge, G. & White, T. (1992). Genetic parameter estimates for growth traits at different ages in slash pine and some implications for breeding. *Silvae Genetica* (*Germany*).
- Hong, Z., Fries, A. & Wu, H.X. (2014). High negative genetic correlations between growth traits and wood properties suggest incorporating multiple traits selection including economic weights for the future Scots pine breeding programs. *Annals of Forest Science*, 71(4), pp. 463-472.
- Hong, Z., Fries, A. & Wu, H.X. (2015). Age trend of heritability, genetic correlation, and efficiency of early selection for wood quality traits in Scots pine. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 45(7), pp. 817-825.
- Hägglund, B., Karlsson, C., Remröd, J. & Sirén, G. (1979). Contortatallens produktion i Sverige och Finland. *SLU, projekt Hugin. Rapport*(13).
- Ivković, M., Gapare, W., Yang, H., Dutkowski, G., Buxton, P. & Wu, H. (2015). Pattern of genotype by environment interaction for radiata pine in southern Australia. *Annals of Forest Science*, 72(3), pp. 391-401.
- Ivković, M., Wu, H. & Kumar, S. (2010). Bio-economic Modelling as a Method for Determining Economic Weights for Optimal Multiple-Trait Tree Selection. *Silvae Genetica*, 59(2-3), pp. 77-90.

- Ivković, M., Wu, H.X., McRae, T.A. & Powell, M.B. (2006). Developing breeding objectives for radiata pine structural wood production. I. Bioeconomic model and economic weights. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 36(11), pp. 2920-2931.
- Ivković, M., Namkoong, G. & Koshy, M. (2002). Genetic variation in wood properties of interior spruce. I. Growth, latewood percentage, and wood density. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 32(12), pp. 2116-2127.
- Kibblewhite, R.P. (1999). Designer fibres for improved papers through exploiting genetic variation in wood microstructure. *Appita Journal*, 52(6), pp. 429-436.
- Koch, P. (1996). Lodgepole pine in North America: Forest Products Society.
- Koubaa, A., Isabel, N., Zhang, S.Y., Beaulieu, J. & Bousquet, J. (2007). Transition from juvenile to mature wood in black spruce (*Picea mariana* (Mill.) BSP). *Wood* and Fiber Science, 37(3), pp. 445-455.
- Ledgard, N. (2001). The spread of lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*, Dougl.) in New Zealand. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 141(1-2), pp. 43-57.
- Lenz, P., Cloutier, A., MacKay, J. & Beaulieu, J. (2010). Genetic control of wood properties in *Picea glauca*-an analysis of trends with cambial age. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 40(4), pp. 703-715.
- Lenz, P., MacKay, J., Rainville, A., Cloutier, A. & Beaulieu, J. (2011). The influence of cambial age on breeding for wood properties in Picea glauca. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 7(3), pp. 641-653.
- Li, B. & McKeand, S. (1989). Stability of loblolly pine families in the southeastern US. *Silvae Genetica*, 38(3/4), pp. 96-101.
- Li, L. & Wu, H.X. (2005). Efficiency of early selection for rotation-aged growth and wood density traits in *Pinus radiata*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 35(8), pp. 2019-2029.
- Li, Y., Suontama, M., Burdon, R.D. & Dungey, H.S. (2017). Genotype by environment interactions in forest tree breeding: review of methodology and perspectives on research and application. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 13(3), p. 60.
- Lichtenegger, H., Reiterer, A., Stanzl-Tschegg, S. & Fratzl, P. (1999). Variation of cellulose microfibril angles in softwoods and hardwoods—a possible strategy of mechanical optimization. *Journal of Structural Biology*, 128(3), pp. 257-269.
- Lindgren, D., Lindgren, K. & Krutzsch, P. (1993). Use of lodgepole pine and its provenances in Sweden. In: Lindgren D, editor. 1993. *Pinus contorta* – From untamed forest to domesticated crop. Proceedings of a meeting with IUFRO WP 2.02.06 and Frans Kempe Symposium. 1992 Aug 24-28; Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Report 11:238-263.
- Lindgren, D., Ying, C.C., Elfving, B. & Lindgren, K. (1994). Site index variation with latitude and altitude in IUFRO *Pinus contorta* provenance experiments in western Canada and northern Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 9(1-4), pp. 270-274.
- Lindgren, K. (1983). Provenances of *Pinus contorta* in northern Sweden.
- Loo, J.A., Tauer, C.G. & McNew, R.W. (1985). Genetic variation in the time of transition from juvenile to mature wood in loblolly pine (*Pinus teada* L). Silvae Genetica, 34(1), pp. 14-19.

- Mansfield, S.D., Parish, R., Di Lucca, C.M., Goudie, J., Kang, K.Y. & Ott, P. (2009). Revisiting the transition between juvenile and mature wood: a comparison of fibre length, microfibril angle and relative wood density in lodgepole pine. *Holzforschung*, 63(4), pp. 449-456.
- Mansfield, S.D., Parish, R., Goudie, J.W., Kang, K.Y. & Ott, P. (2007*a*). The effects of crown ratio on the transition from juvenile to mature wood production in lodgepole pine in western Canada. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 37(8), pp. 1450-1459.
- Mansfield, S.D. & Weineisen, H. (2007b). Wood fiber quality and kraft pulping efficiencies of trembling aspen (*Populus tremuloides* Michx) clones. *Journal of Wood Chemistry and Technology*, 27(3-4), pp. 135-151.
- Martinsson, O. (1983). Lodgepole pine in the Swedish reforestation-problems and prospects. *Swedish University of Agricultural Science, Umeå, Sweden*, pp. 49-52.
- Matheson, A. & Cotterill, P. (1990). Utility of genotype× environment interactions. Forest Ecology and Management, 30(1-4), pp. 159-174.
- McDougal, F.W. The importance of lodgepole pine in Canada. I: *Handlingar från* Proceedings of the Symposium on Management of Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems, Washington State University, Pullman1973, pp. 9-11.
- Mellerowicz, E.J., Baucher, M., Sundberg, B. & Boerjan, W. (2001). Unravelling cell wall formation in the woody dicot stem. I: *Plant Cell Walls* Springer, pp. 239-274.
- Moore, J.R., Cown, D.J. & McKinley, R.B. (2014). Modelling microfibril angle variation in New Zealand-grown radiata pine. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science*, 44(1), p. 25.
- Mutz, R., Guilley, E., Sauter, U.H. & Nepveu, G. (2004). Modelling juvenile-mature wood transition in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) using nonlinear mixedeffects models. *Annals of Forest Science*, 61(8), pp. 831-841.
- Namkoong, G., Kang, H.C. & Brouard, J.S. (2012). Tree Breeding: Principles and Strategies: Springer-Verlag, New York Berlin Heidelberg London Paris Tokyo.
- Nellbeck, R. (1981). Growing of *P. contorta*. Programme and experiences 1968–1980, AB Iggesunds Bruk [*Pinus contorta* var. latifolia, lodgepole pine, provenances, type of seedling, planting time, soil preparation, stocking, thinning, predators, Sweden]. Sveriges Skogsvårdfoerbunds Tidskrift.
- Paavilainen, L. (1993). Conformability, flexibility and collapsibility of Sulfate pulp fibers. *Paperi Ja Puu-Paper and Timber*, 75(9-10), pp. 689-702.
- Pfister, R.D. & Daubenmire, R. (1973). Ecology of Lodgepole Pine Pinus contorta Dougl. *Ecology of Lodgepole Pine Pinus contorta Dougl.*, pp. 27-46.
- Rehfeldt, G.E., Ying, C.C., Spittlehouse, D.L. & Hamilton, D.A. (1999). Genetic responses to climate in Pinus contorta: niche breadth, climate change, and reforestation. *Ecological monographs*, 69(3), pp. 375-407.
- Rosvall, O. (1980). Swedish *Pinus contorta* tree improvement and seed production program. *Rapporter och uppsatser*. *Research notes-Stockholm*. *Skogshogskolan. Institutionen for skogsgenetik*.
- Rosvall, O., Ståhl, P., Almqvist, C., Anderson, B., Berlin, M., Ericsson, T., Eriksson, M., Gregorsson, B., Hajek, J. & Hallander, J. (2011). Review of the Swedish

tree breeding programme. Arbetsrapport, Skogforsk, Uppsala Science Park, Uppsala, p. 114.

- Rosvall, O., Andersson, B. & Ericsson, T. (1998). Beslutsunderlag för val av skogsodlingsmaterial i norra Sverige med trädslagsvisa guider: Speciesspecific guidelines for choosing forest regeneration material for northern Sweden: SkogForsk.
- Roth, B.E., Jokela, E.J., Martin, T.A., Huber, D.A. & White, T.L. (2007). Genotype× environment interactions in selected loblolly and slash pine plantations in the Southeastern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 238(1-3), pp. 175-188.
- Shelbourne, C. Genotype-environment interaction: its study and its implication in forest tree improvement. I: *Handlingar från IUFRO Genetics-SABRAO joint symposia, Tokyo*1972.
- Shiokura, T. (1982). Extent and differentiation of the juvenile wood zone in coniferous tree trunks. *J. Jap. Wood Res. Soc*, 28, pp. 85-90.
- Smith, H.F. (1936). A discriminant function for plant selection. *Annals of Human Genetics*, 7(3), pp. 240-250.
- Steffenrem, A., Kvaalen, H., HØ ibØ, O.A., Edvardsen, Ø.M. & SkrØ ppa, T. (2009). Genetic variation of wood quality traits and relationships with growth in *Picea abies. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 24(1), pp. 15-27.
- Szymanski, M.B. & Tauer, C. (1991). Loblolly pine provenance variation in age of transition from juvenile to mature wood specific gravity. *Forest science*, 37(1), pp. 160-174.
- Tysor, S. (2013) *Pinus contorta* distribution map. Available at: <u>http://scisus.org/2013/09/03/pinus-contorta-distribution-map-in-rstats/</u> (Accessed: 17 April 2018).
- Thamarus, K., Groom, K., Bradley, A., Raymond, C.A., Schimleck, L.R., Williams, E.R. & Moran, G.F. (2004). Identification of quantitative trait loci for wood and fibre properties in two full-sib pedigrees of *Eucalyptus globulus*. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 109(4), pp. 856-864.
- Walker, J. & Butterfield, B. (1996). The importance of microfibril angle for the processing industries. *New Zealand Forestry*, 40, pp. 34-40.
- Wang, M.L. & Stewart, J.D. (2012). Determining the transition from juvenile to mature wood microfibril angle in lodgepole pine: a comparison of six different twosegment models. *Annals of Forest Science*, 69(8), pp. 927-937.
- Wang, M.L. & Stewart, J.D. (2013). Modeling the Transition from Juvenile to Mature Wood Using Modulus of Elasticity in Lodgepole Pine. Western Journal of Applied Forestry, 28(4), pp. 135-142.
- Wang, T., Hamann, A., Yanchuk, A., O'neill, G. & Aitken, S. (2006). Use of response functions in selecting lodgepole pine populations for future climates. *Global Change Biology*, 12(12), pp. 2404-2416.
- Wang, X.P., Ross, R.J., McClellan, M., Barbour, R.J., Erickson, J.R., Forsman, J.W. & McGinnis, G.D. (2001). Nondestructive evaluation of standing trees with a stress wave method. *Wood and Fiber Science*, 33(4), pp. 522-533.
- Wellner, C.A. The importance of lodgepole pine in the United States. I: Handlingar från Proceedings of a Symposium on Management of Lodgepole Pine Ecosystems. Washington State University, Pullman, Washington1975, pp. 1-9.

- Wheeler, N.C. & Critchfield, W.B. distribution and botanical characteristics of lodgepole pine: biogergraphical and management implications. I: *Handlingar från Lodgepole pine--the species and its management: symposium proceedings, May 8-10, 1984 Spokane, Washington, USA; repeated May 14-16, 1984 Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada/comp./ed. by DM Baumgartner...[et al.]*1985: Pullman, Wash.: Cooperative Extension, Washington State University, 1985.
- Wu, H., Ivković, M., Gapare, W., Matheson, A., Baltunis, B., Powell, M. & McRae, T. (2008). Breeding for wood quality and profit in Pinus radiata: a review of genetic parameter estimates and implications for breeding and deployment. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry Science*, 38(1), pp. 56-87.
- Wu, H.X. & Matheson, A.C. (2005). Genotype by environment interactions in an Australia-wide radiata pine diallel mating experiment: implications for regionalized breeding. *Forest science*, 51(1), pp. 29-40.
- Wu, H.X., Powell, M.B., Yang, J.L., Ivković, M. & McRae, T.A. (2007). Efficiency of early selection for rotation-aged wood quality traits in radiata pine. *Annals of Forest Science*, 64(1), pp. 1-9.
- Wu, H.X. & Sanchez, L. (2011). Effect of selection method on genetic correlation and gain in a two-trait selection scheme. *Australian forestry*, 74(1), pp. 36-42.
- Wu, H.X. & Ying, C.C. (2004). Geographic pattern of local optimality in natural populations of lodgepole pine. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 194(1-3), pp. 177-198.
- Yanchuk, A.D. & Sanchez, L. (2011). Multivariate selection under adverse genetic correlations: impacts of population sizes and selection strategies on gains and coancestry in forest tree breeding. *Tree Genetics & Genomes*, 7(6), pp. 1169-1183.
- Yang, K., Benson, C. & Wong, J. (1986). Distribution of juvenile wood in two stems of Larix laricina. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 16(5), pp. 1041-1049.
- Ying, C.C. & Yanchuk, A.D. (2006). The development of British Columbia's tree seed transfer guidelines: purpose, concept, methodology, and implementation. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 227(1-2), pp. 1-13.
- Zobel, B. & Van Buijtenen, J. (1989). Wood variation-its causes and control. *Springer Verlag: Berlin Heidelberg.*
- Zobel, B.J. & Jett, J.B. (1995). *Genetics of wood production*: Springer, Berlin. ISBN 3-540-58841-8.
- Zobel, B.J. & Sprague, J.R. (1998). *Juvenile wood in forest trees*: Springer, Berlin. ISBN 3-540-64032-0

Popular science summary

Trees and their wood products are one of the oldest and the most well-known natural materials used by societies for multiple purposes, including constructing building, making furniture, producing paper and biofuel.

Wood has a wide range of characteristics which determine how well the wood is suited for a particular product. To get the best out of wood, both its quantity and quality should be enhanced through genetic improvement and stand management.

Lodgepole pine has been introduced into Sweden during the mid-1960s. Trees grow fast, they have a good survival and are very productive. However, stem bending and even stem breakage of those trees, which are less resistant to wind, snow-loads, and environmental stresses, have been a major problem in northern Sweden. Additionally, wood produced from such trees is of lower quality for construction purposes, and thus, of lower economical value.

Tree breeding programs aim to enhance the overall value of forest products by applying genetic and economics principles to develop individual trees most suited for the human needs.

In the studies this thesis is based upon, several principles of tree breeding have been applied to quantify the genetic variation and to design the optimal way in order to improve both wood quantity and quality of lodgepole pine in northern Sweden. This will meet the societal need of bio-material for construction and pulp and paper making.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Träd och träprodukter är ett av de äldsta och mest kända naturmaterial i vårt samhälle och det används för flera ändamål, bland annat konstruktion av byggnader, tillverkning av möbler, produktion av papper och till biobränsle.

Trä har ett brett register av egenskaper som avgör hur bra träet passar för en viss produkt. För att få ut det mesta av trä, bör både kvantitet och kvalitet förbättras genom genetisk förädling och god skogsskötsel.

Contortatall introducerades i Sverige under mitten av 1960-talet. Trädslaget växer snabbt, har hög överlevnad och är väldigt produktiv. Emellertid har stamböjar och även stambrott av de träd som är mindre motståndskraftiga mot vind, snöbelastning och annan miljöbelastning varit ett stort problem i norra Sverige. Dessutom är trä som från contortatall av lägre kvalitet för byggnadsändamål och därmed av lägre ekonomiskt värde.

Förädling av skogsträd syftar till att förbättra det generella värdet av skogsprodukter. Genom att tillämpa genetiska och ekonomiska principer kan man genetiskt förädla de individer som är mest lämpade för människans behov.

I studierna som denna avhandling är baserad på har flera principer för skogsträdsförädling applicerats för att kvantifiera den genetiska variationen och för att utforma det optimala sättet för att öka produktionen och förbättra kvalitén hos contortatall i norra Sverige. Detta kan möta samhällets behov av biomaterial, konstruktionsvirke och massa- och papperstillverkning.

Acknowledgements

This research has received funding from Föreningen Skogsträdsförädling, Bo Rydins, Kempe foundation, and the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU). Without this funding, this PhD would not have been possible.

First and foremost I would like to express my special appreciation and thanks to my main supervisor **Harry Wu** for all his kind efforts and supports during this fouryear journey. **Harry**, thanks a million for giving me the opportunity to explore my potentials as a PhD student in Quantitative Genetics, the research topic which I even didn't know exists. Thank you very much for always being so responsive, patient, and helpful during all those times that I was extremely overwhelmed and confused. The appreciation for your job is much more than I could express in this note.

I am especially indebted to my co-supervisor, **Anders Fries** for all his kind efforts, supports, inputs on the manuscripts, and organizing all the field works of this PhD. Anders, your office door was always open for me to answer all my endless questions about lodgepole pine. I also admit that I was not talented in field work, but you made those tough works more bearable and tolerated me when I was most often lost and confused in the forest and was just struggling to get rid of clouds of mosquitos surrounding me.

I would like also to express my gratitude to my co-supervisor at **Skogforsk**, **Johan Kroon**, who made the data available for this study. Thanks Johan for familiarizing me with the most beautiful and the lovely species, "**lodgepole pine**".

Xiao-Ru Wang, thanks a lot for accepting to be my co-supervisor. Your contribution is greatly appreciated.

Rosario Garcia Gil, is an honorary co-supervisor, who has been not only a great mentor, but also a close friend. Sari, your helps, supports, enthusiasm and the sympathy to your students is unmatched. Thanks a lot for your supports and advices during this four-year study. Here, I would like to extend a special thank you to my current and former colleagues and friends at the Forest Genetics group. I am sincerely grateful to **David Hall**, **Liming Bian**, **Zhiqiang Chen**, and **Zhou Hong** for their kind helps in the field sampling. **David**, I would not only appreciate your helps for field works, but also for great advices on the R programming.

Zhiqiang Chen, you have been my foremost coffee break and constant lateworking companion. I remember the first day I came to the office, someone asked you to help me finding my way to SLU main building and you just told "NO"! I got quite shocked, but then got used to it. But of course that day you helped me with it and we went to SLU together. During these four years spending lots of our hours in the office, working late, talking, laughing, arguing, travelling to New Zealand, etc. I just can say we have kind of grown together. Without you, **Ilka**, and **Hai Hong**, staying in the office would be just boring. Thanks a lot! You all have added a bit of funny to every day.

Hai Hong, thanks a lot for sharing every day your cookies with us. During the times you were in the office, I gained some kilos!

Irena Fundova, you have been my sounding board for different thoughts, no matter if they are scientific or life-related. You and **John Baison** were my best travel companions during our many adventures and long field works together. Sleeping in the forest, seeing a baby bear in Jämtland, a broken spray and all over orange finger prints, travelling by boat to Visby, being almost eaten alive by mosquitoes in the forest, etc. Such memories are just unforgettable.

Tomas Funda, now this is a time to say thanks a lot firstly because of your trust on my hairdressing, secondly for all fruitful discussions about seed orchards. Thanks for being always so supportive and helpful. Now is time for another haircut!

Henrik Hallingbäck, you are almost a walking encyclopaedia, thanks a lot for sharing your knowledge so generously.

Biyue and **Lynn**, Thanks a lot for being always kind and available to help. Great appreciation for your advices on the R programming.

Jin Pan, Jenny, Sonali, Maximiliano, Alexis, Nils, Binbin, Xinyu, great to meet you! You made my life just that much richer.

Of course **UPSC family** is a very special one and I am very grateful to have been a part of it. Thanks to all UPSC staff for creating such a wonderful atmosphere.

Inga-Lis and **Simon**, you were my best Swedish-practicing companions and great thanks for your helps during last four years.

Special thanks to **Siamsa** and **Tim** for always being responsive and helpful to my English-grammar questions.

Thanks to all my friends around the globe. **Soodeh**, **Sherrry**, **Sara**, and **Mozhgan**, thanks for your wise counsel and sympathy. Just simply, you are my best friends!

And then... I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents and to my lovely sister Ladan, her daughter Tiam, and my dears and nears Sima, Omid, Mohsen, Mahboobeh, for providing me with incredible supports and continuous encouragements. This accomplishment would not have been possible without you!

At last but not least, to my beloved **Benny**, who, his love, patience, and encouragements made the last two years of this journey much smoother. Thanks a lot for your helps, supports, and your great offer to learn cross-country skiing, which provided joyful breaks from academic work. And thanks for your efforts to translate "popular science summary" of this thesis into Swedish.